RECEIVED

Sep 20 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BARRY WAYNE JONES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000046

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge err by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act?

2.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by admitting evidence that Appellant allegedly attempted suicide in the moments before he was taken into custody where, pursuant to State v. Cartwright, 425 S.C. 81, 819 S.E.2d 756 (2018), the state failed to prove an unmistakable nexus existed by clear and convincing evidence linking the suicide attempt to a guilty conscious derivative of the offenses for which Appellant was being tried, and where any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

3

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by Appellant, specifically that Appellant was not required to wait until his assailant got the drop on him, that he had the right to act under the law of self-preservation and prevent his assailant from getting the drop on him, since the charge was supported by the evidence and was crucial to the jury's understanding of the law on self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on October 24, 2018 for the offenses of murder and attempted murder. R. 1578-1581. A pretrial hearing pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”) was held on September 7-8, 2021 before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV. R. 1. Solicitor Rick Hubbard and Assistant Solicitor Robert McNair represented the state. R. 1. Luke Shealy, Brian Shealy, and Casey Secor represented Appellant. R. 1. By order filed October 15, 2021, Judge McLeod found Appellant was not immune from prosecution pursuant to the Act. R. 1501-1512.

Appellant’s case was called to trial on December 3, 2021 before Judge McLeod, and a jury. Solicitor Rick Hubbard and Assistant Solicitor Robert McNair represented the state. R. 380. Luke Shealy, Brian Shealy, and Casey Secor represented Appellant. R. 380. On December 13, 2021, the jury acquitted Appellant of attempted murder, but found him guilty of murder. R. 1491, I. 22 – 1492, I. 4. He was sentenced to thirty-five years imprisonment. R. 1494, II. 14-16.

On December 20, 2021, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial. R. 1547-1555. By order dated January 7, 2022, Judge McLeod denied the motion. R. 1556-1560.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was raised in Johnston, South Carolina. R. 1079, l. 13. After he graduated from Lander University, he was hired at Savannah River Site (SRS), where he eventually met his wife, Dana, who also worked at SRS. R. 1080, l. 6 – 1082, l. 4. After Appellant married, he and his wife moved to Barnwell, South Carolina, closer to SRS. R. 1079, ll. 12-14. The pair were married for twenty years until Dana tragically succumbed to cancer after an eight year battle. R. 1082, ll. 5-16. The last two years were particularly difficult for Appellant. R. 1082, ll. 12-13. After his wife's death, Appellant was "too depressed" to continue working at Savannah River Site without her and decided to retire early with a reduced pension after twenty-seven years of employment. R. 1080, ll. 23-25; R. 1082, ll. 20-25.

In 2017, after he retired, Appellant moved back to Johnston to help care for his elderly father who was ill. R. 1083, ll. 13-25. Johnston is a small town and there were not many establishments to socialize or eat. Appellant discovered the Johnston Pool Room, a local sports bar. R. 1084, ll. 1-19. Appellant frequented the pool room about four to five times a week. R. 1085, ll. 6-9. In September 2017, Appellant met Angie Smith at the pool room and the two began dating. R. 1085, l. 10 – 1086, l. 6. Appellant, who had been living with his father, moved into Angie's house shortly after they began dating. R. 1086, ll. 7-25. While he kept most of his possessions at his father's house, he predominately lived with Angie and kept his valuables, clothing, and toiletries at her house. R. 1086, l. 19 – 1087, l. 4.

Angie introduced Appellant to Milledge Hall, the decedent. Milledge was Angie's cousin. Appellant knew Milledge only by his nickname, "B'Boy," which was short for "Big Boy." R. 1087, ll. 5-21; R. 888, ll. 8-20. Milledge was "six feet one inch tall" and three hundred pounds at the time of his death. R. 882, ll. 19-23.

In late 2017, Milledge's grandson, Clayton Hall, and his wife, Madison Hall, purchased the Johnston Pool Room. R. 487, l. 10 – 488, l. 2. Milledge allegedly invested sixteen thousand dollars in the business when his grandson purchased it. R. 488, l. 22 – 489, l. 2. However, Milledge was not listed as an owner nor was he employed by the pool room. R. 512, ll. 6-23. Rather, Milledge frequented the pool room as a patron and, like most other patrons, drank alcohol when he did so. R. 512, ll. 18-23.

Clayton had frustrations with Appellant, as a patron, from the time Clayton purchased the pool room. R. 512, l. 24 – 513, l. 5. Appellant had criticisms about how the business was ran and complained about the quality of the food, the cold temperature inside, and the allowance of smoking inside the establishment. R. 513, ll. 6-14; R. 1090, l. 8 – 1092, l. 11. These complaints “rubbed” Clayton and the other employees the “the wrong way.” R. 513, ll. 15-17. However, Appellant's behavior never rose to the level of needing to ban him from the establishment nor did Clayton ever have to call law enforcement due to Appellant's behavior. R. 513, ll. 18-20.

Sometime in April 2018, about a month before the shooting which led to Appellant's conviction, Appellant learned Milledge had been telling others that Appellant had been fired from Savannah River Site rather than retired. R. 1097, l. 14 – 1098, l. 3. This was upsetting to Appellant because his retirement from SRS was “deeply personal” given his reason for retiring early (due to his wife's passing). R. 1098, ll. 4-7. Appellant approached Milledge one evening at the pool room and asked him whether it was true that he was telling others Appellant had been fired. Milledge admitted he told others this untruth, but refused to tell Appellant from whom he had heard the rumor. R. 1098, l. 15 – 1099, l. 1. Milledge told Appellant it did not matter who he had heard it from and he did not seem to care that it was untrue. R. 1099, ll. 7-14. However, Appellant made clear that it mattered to him who was spreading the rumor. R. 1099, ll. 9-11.

During the exchange, Milledge quickly stood up from his bar stool and “got . . . in [Appellant’s] face.” Appellant put his hands up, “like, whoa,” and backed up. Milledge then threatened Appellant. He said, “I’ll beat your ass all about this bar.” R. 1101, ll. 2-10. Appellant immediately went back to where he was sitting with Angie and told her they needed to leave. They paid their tab and left. R. 1102, ll. 16-21.

Appellant had never had any “problems” with Milledge before this encounter and it left him feeling uneasy. R. 1101, ll. 22-25; R. 1102, ll. 24-25. He was “scared” of Milledge and did not “want to be around him unless he had to.” R. 1106, ll. 5-7. Consequently, Appellant stopped going to the pool room as frequently and started going to Foley’s, a bar in nearby Saluda, South Carolina. When Appellant did go to the pool room, he “kept [his] distance from” Milledge and began sitting at the front of the establishment since Milledge usually sat at the back of the bar. R. 1103, ll. 1-3; R. 1105, l. 15 – 1107, l. 4.

Tony Friar, who lived in Johnston his entire life, knew both Appellant and Milledge. Friar worked with Appellant and his wife at Savannah River Site and the three carpooled together for ten to twelve years. R. 1036, l. 1 – 1037, l. 19. Friar grew up with Milledge and knew him from living in the same small community. R. 1037, ll. 20-24. He maintained Milledge had “a reputation of being a fighter.” R. 1039, ll. 20-22. There was also an occasion during a “disagreement” with others where Friar saw Milledge seated in his truck with a rifle. R. 1038, l. 5 – 1039, l. 19; R. 1047, ll. 6-14. Friar would sometimes see Milledge “around town” and Milledge would encourage Friar to eat at the pool room. R. 1040, ll. 18-20. Friar was aware that Milledge’s grandson was running the establishment. R. 1040, ll. 17-25.

One evening in April 2018, about a month or less before the shooting, Friar went to the pool room to eat with his wife and brother on Milledge’s invitation. R. 1040, ll. 9-21. When

Friar walked in, he saw Appellant. He did not know Appellant had moved back to Johnson. Appellant got up and quickly said hello to Friar before Friar was seated at a table. R. 1041, ll. 8-17. Later on, Appellant came and sat down with Friar and his family. Milledge was also at the pool room that evening. Appellant commented that he did not like Milledge “and that Milledge had a problem with him.” R. 1041, ll. 18-23. Appellant explained that he did not like Milledge because “Milledge was telling people that Barry [Appellant] had gotten fired from Savannah River Site.” R. 1041, l. 24 – 1042, l. 2. Friar knew this was not true and that Appellant had retired from SRS “due to his wife’s passing.” R. 1042, ll. 3-10. Appellant was venting his frustration that Milledge was spreading this lie. R. 1042, ll. 11-17.

After Appellant returned to where he was sitting, Milledge came and sat in the booth with Friar. R. 1042, ll. 18-21. Milledge asked Friar if he knew Appellant. Friar explained that he had known Appellant basically “all his life” and that the two had worked together at SRS. R. 1042, l. 22 – 1043, l. 1. Milledge then asked, “Well, he got fired from out there, didn’t he?” Friar corrected Milledge and told him Appellant did not get fired, but Milledge did not seem convinced. R. 1043, ll. 1-11. Milledge admitted “he couldn’t stand Barry [Appellant]” and “with aggression” said, “I’m gonna take care of him.” Simultaneously, Milledge “took his hand and did his fist like that in his hand.” R. 1043, ll. 12-19. Friar, who again knew Milledge’s reputation of being a fighter, told Milledge that the two needed to work it out, but Milledge again said he was going to “take care of him [Appellant].” R. 1043, ll. 17-19.

After this conversation, Friar “warned” Appellant that he “better be aware of” Milledge and to “be careful around him” because he was “violent” and known to be a fighter. This caused Appellant additional concern. R. 1107, l. 16 – 1108, l. 8.

On May 5, 2018, two days before the shooting, Appellant was at the pool room with his girlfriend, Angie. There was an error on his bar tab that resulted in Appellant being overcharged. Appellant brought the mistake to his server's attention who told Clayton. Clayton came over to where Appellant was sitting and Appellant explained the error. However, Clayton "just shook his head and walked off." R. 1108, l. 9 – 1110, l. 14. Appellant paid the tab and denied "losing [his] cool." R. 1109, l. 24 – 1110, l. 2. Clayton, on the other hand, claimed Appellant complained about the overcharge with an "aggressive tone." R. 491, l. 3 – 492, l. 2. Clayton "could . . . feel the tension from him [Appellant] a lot worse than just a friendly patron." R. 492, ll. 2-3.

The following morning, Sunday, May 6, 2018, Clayton and his wife, Madison, decided to "take a one night trip" just "to get out of town" "due to the stress" allegedly caused by Appellant. R. 494, ll. 2-12. Prior to leaving, Clayton allegedly told his grandfather, Milledge, about Appellant's "behavior" and that he intended to ask Appellant "not to come back to the establishment [the pool room] anymore." R. 494, ll. 13-17. Clayton claimed Milledge recommended Clayton have this conversation with Appellant outside the pool room so as not to affect the other patrons or embarrass Appellant. R. 495, ll. 4-19.

On Monday, May 7, 2018, the day of the shooting, Appellant "checked on his dad" as usual and then ran errands. On his way back from running errands, Appellant stopped at the pool room sometime between 4:00 and 4:45 to meet his friends. R. 1119, ll. 5-24. He and his friends met every Monday or Tuesday at the pool room to catch up with each other. R. 1119, l. 21 – 1120, l. 19. No one stopped Appellant at the door and said he was not permitted at the pool room. He was served as usual. R. 1120, ll. 5-16.

As Appellant was socializing with his friends, he realized he had several text messages from Angie, his girlfriend. He received a text from her at 5:06 asking him if everything was okay and another text at 5:15 that simply said, "Hello?" Appellant responded at 5:17 stating he was sorry, that he did not hear his phone when she texted, and that he was meeting his friends at the pool room as usual. Angie responded with a series of angry text messages: "I can't believe you;" "We're not gonna make it like this. You need to come talk to me;" "I'm really pissed now;" "If you don't come talk to me, it won't be pretty when you get home;" "Answer me;" and "I'll come show out." R. 1120, l. 20 – 1123, l. 21. Appellant did not respond to these messages.

Appellant had been growing tired of his relationship with Angie. He found that she was no longer fun to be around anymore in part due to her excessive drinking and her "smothering" behavior. R. 1110 l, l. 23 – 1111, l. 17. For example, if Appellant was at his father's house for longer than he had been the previous day, Angie would constantly be texting asking him where he was even though he was merely at his father's house. R. 1111, ll. 18-23. Additionally, Angie had been "drinking more and more" and often became belligerent and physically aggressive when she did so. R. 1111, ll. 11-13; R. 1134, ll. 9-11. During the early morning hours of Sunday, May 6, 2018, after returning home from the pool room, Appellant was forced to text Sergeant Mathis of the Johnston Police Department, an acquaintance of Appellant, to come calm Angie down as she refused to stop drinking and go to sleep. Appellant did not want to call 911 because he was afraid he or Angie would get arrested. R. 1117, l. 21 – 1118, l. 3. Sergeant Mathis came to their house minutes later and Angie agreed to stop drinking and go to bed. R. 1118, ll. 6-24.

After Appellant did not respond to Angie's series of angry text messages that evening, she showed up at the pool room. When she walked in, she did not acknowledge Appellant who

was sitting with his friends. Instead, she walked to the back of the bar and sat next to Milledge, her cousin. R. 1125, l. 14 – 1126, l. 1. Appellant decided to leave. R. 1126, ll. 18-20. He also decided that he was “finished with Angie.” R. 1126, ll. 21-24. He was going to break up with her and move out of her house. R. 1127, ll. 2-5. Appellant walked out of the pool room followed by his friend, Randy Yonce. R. 1127, l. 19 – 1128, l. 9; See State’s Exhibit No. 13 (Pool Room Video). Unbeknownst to Appellant, Milledge walked outside shortly after Randy. R. 1128, ll. 10-13; R. 1129, ll. 8-10; See State’s Exhibit No. 13 (Pool Room Video). As Appellant was pulling out of the parking lot, Milledge struck the “rear right fender” of Appellant’s car with his hand. R. 1129, ll. 1-7; See State’s Exhibit No. 13 (Pool Room Video). Milledge yelled something and then threw his hands up in the air as Appellant drove away. R. 1129, ll. 11-25; See State’s Exhibit No. 13 (Pool Room Video). The loud noise “startled” Appellant, who at the time was looking both ways in an effort to pull out into traffic. R. 1129, l. 20 – 1130, l. 2. Appellant saw Milledge in his rear view mirror. R. 1129, ll. 13-14. In that moment, Appellant believed Milledge had an “aggressive intent.” R. 1130, ll. 3-6. Appellant did not stop to engage Milledge in any way. He merely drove away. R. 1130, ll. 15-18.

At some point after leaving the pool room, Appellant texted his friend, Joe Mims, “Can you come calm me down?” R. 890, ll. 12-17. Followed by, “I’m gonna kill that B’Boy [Milledge].” R. 891, ll. 4-18. Appellant explained that he was merely venting his frustration with what he perceived as Milledge interfering with Appellant’s relationship with Angie and causing “more problems for” Appellant as he was trying to break up with Angie, which was a difficult task to begin with. R. 1137, l. 8 – 1138, l. 25. Appellant denied that he meant he was literally going to kill Milledge. R. 1137, ll. 21-23.

Appellant drove straight to Angie's house and packed up all his valuables, including his guns and a safe. He also packed his medication and toiletries as well as several treasured Clemson shirts his wife had bought him over the years. R. 1131, l. 10 – 1132, l. 25. While Appellant was packing up his possessions, Angie texted him several times. The first read, "You couldn't even come and speak." Followed by, "Everyone stared at me." Finally, about fifteen minutes later at 6:47, Angie texted, "See you soon. No fighting." R. 1139, l. 3 – 1140, l. 2. Appellant perceived this final text as evidence that Angie had "calmed down" and that it was "safe" to return to the pool room to talk to her with the goal of ending their relationship. R. 1140, ll. 3-5. He also assumed that Angie had "taken care of" the "situation" with Milledge, her cousin. R. 1140, ll. 6-7.

As a precaution, at 6:52, before he returned to the pool room to speak with Angie and end their relationship, Appellant texted Sergeant Mathis and asked if he was available. R. 1140, ll. 15-24. Appellant hoped Mathis could be present at the pool room while Appellant broke up with Angie. His plan was to get Angie to come outside and speak with her in his car. However, Mathis never responded to this text. Apparently, he was not on duty that day. R. 1141, ll. 5-11.

After packing his possessions, Appellant drove back to the pool room and parked directly in front of the business. R. 1142, ll. 5-22; See State's Exhibit No. 14 (Pool Room Video). He hoped Angie would see his car through the window and come outside so the two could talk inside Appellant's car. If Angie did not come outside, Appellant planned to text or call her. R. 1143, ll. 2-6. Appellant did not feel comfortable going inside based on his earlier interaction with Milledge in which Milledge struck the back of Appellant's car, yelled, and threw his hands into the air. R. 1143, ll. 12-17; R. 1144, ll. 9-20.

After Appellant had been sitting in his car for several minutes, Milledge walked outside. R. 1144, l. 21 – 1145, l. 4. He approached Appellant’s vehicle but paused a few feet away. See State’s Exhibit No. 14 (Pool Room Video). Milledge then motioned for Appellant to get out of the car. See State’s Exhibit No. 14 (Pool Room Video). Appellant refused because he was “scared of him.” R. 1145, ll. 5-12. Instead, Appellant rolled down his window about six inches. R. 1145, ll. 10-12. Appellant did not want to roll the window down any farther because he was afraid Milledge would grab him and pull him out of the car. R. 1145, ll. 10-14.

When Milledge first began talking to Appellant outside his window, it was all about Angie. R. 1145, ll. 14-16. Milledge told Appellant “that it wasn’t nice” Appellant had left the pool room earlier without speaking to Angie and that it had embarrassed her. R. 1146, ll. 17-21. Milledge also wanted to know why Appellant had “called the law on [his] cousin” the night before and complained Appellant had been going to Foley’s with Angie, taking business away from the pool room. R. 1145, l. 17 – 1146, l. 9.

Milledge repeatedly demanded Appellant get out of the car so Milledge could “beat [his] ass.” R. 1147, ll. 4-13. Milledge tried to open Appellant’s door. He pulled on the handle, but the door was locked. R. 1147, ll. 20-25. Milledge stood outside Appellant’s window for nearly ten minutes. His tone and demeanor became progressively more aggressive. R. 1148, ll. 6-13. Milledge began talking about Clayton and the pool room and complained Appellant “was basically trying to run the bar.” R. 1148, ll. 13-17.

As the confrontation escalated, Milledge invited Appellant out of the car to fight. Appellant continued to refuse. Appellant was scared of Milledge. He knew Milledge could harm him with just his bare hands. Milledge was larger and stronger than Appellant. R. 1149, ll. 9-19. Milledge lunged at Appellant several times. See State’s Exhibit No. 14 (Pool Room

Video). Appellant could smell alcohol on Milledge's breath and knew he was intoxicated. R. 1151, l. 25 – 1152, l. 6. It was later estimated that at the time of the shooting Milledge's blood alcohol content (BAC) was 0.12, well above the legal limit to operate a vehicle. R. 1267, ll. 1-21. When Milledge repeatedly lunged at Appellant's window, it made Appellant feel threatened and "fearful [for his] life." R. 1152, ll. 7-11.

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