RECEIVED

Oct 04 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000046

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

BARRY WAYNE JONES,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

RICK HUBBARD
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street Suite 309
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

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

ARGUMENT

I. Judge McLeod properly denied immunity as Appellant did not prove he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, that he was actually in danger of harm, or that he was in a place he had the right to be (among other elements), as the victim only turned back toward Appellant's vehicle after Appellant called his name and the victim was unarmed in the front of the vehicle when Appellant got out of his car and shot him.

Appellant argues Judge McLeod abused his discretion by denying him immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code §16-11-440 ("PPPA"). IBOA p. 15. The State disagrees and submits his argument is without merit. In order to be granted relief from this Court, Appellant has to prove there was no evidentiary support for Judge McLeod's conclusions in his October 15, 2021 written Order, and Appellant has not done so.

Law of Self-Defense

To be entitled to immunity after using deadly force, a defendant must prove he met all four elements (or applicable sections of the Act) of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. He:

- (1) Must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) Must have believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or actually was in such danger;
- (3) "Reasonable Fear." If based on belief, a reasonably prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would have entertained that same belief; and
- (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act how he did.

State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 n. 4 (2013).

If a defendant only meets the first two elements, then he must also prove he meets the applicable section(s) of the PPPA that replace elements (3) reasonable fear; and (4) the duty to retreat. However, if the State disproves one element at any point, the judge may deny immunity right then and there and send the case to a jury. *State v. Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572,

586 (2010) (“It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.”)

Section (A): The presumption of reasonable fear applies (replacing element 3) if:

- (1) The victim was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering or had entered an occupied vehicle or attempted to remove another person against his will from the vehicle; and
- (2) Knows or has reason to believe that unlawful and forcible entry is or has occurred.

Section (B): Section A does not apply, however, if:

- (1) The victim had the right to be in the residence or vehicle; or
- (3)² The defendant was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time or used an occupied vehicle to further such unlawful activity.

Section (C): A person who:

- Is not engaged in unlawful activity; and
- Who is attacked in a place he had the right to be . . .
- Has no duty to retreat (replacing element 4) and has the right to meet force with force to prevent death or GBI to himself or others.

Section (D): A person who attempts to enter a person’s occupied vehicle is presumed to be doing so with the intent to commit an unlawful act or violent crime.

First, Judge McLeod found Appellant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty because he returned to the bar with multiple guns minutes after he sent a text to his friend Joe “Jo Jo” Mims saying, “I’m going to kill that Be Boy.”³ Amended Immunity Order R. 1508. Clayton Hall, the victim’s grandson, testified at the immunity hearing he had asked his grandfather to tell Appellant not to come back to the bar. Amended Immunity R. 294-298. Judge McLeod therefore rightly found the victim had asked Appellant to leave multiple times and he had refused to

² Items 2 and 4 of Section B are omitted as they are irrelevant to the facts of this case.

³ “Be Boy” was the nickname of the victim.

submit to it. The judge wrote, the defendant's "refusal to leave upon the question of Mr. Hall, with the ability to do so, supports the finding that he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty and his claim for self-defense fails." Amended Immunity Order R. 1508. This was a finding based on evidentiary support. Thus, Judge McLeod did not abuse his discretion and this Court should affirm.

Second, even if Appellant was not at fault, Judge McLeod found Appellant failed to show he was in actual imminent danger or reasonably believed he was in imminent danger. Amended Immunity Order R. 1508-1509. No one testified that the victim carried a gun and no gun was recovered; he actually only ever carried a cell phone. *Id.* The judge also found Appellant armed himself before returning to the bar. *Id.* Therefore, Appellant was not in actual imminent danger. This was a ruling backed by evidentiary support so the judge did not abuse his discretion.

Moving to the Act, the judge found Appellant did not establish either Section A or C by a preponderance of the evidence. Amended Immunity Order R. 1509-1510. Regarding Section A, Judge McLeod found Appellant was not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear as the encounter lasted nine minutes and the victim did not do anything overtly threatening during that time. (The immunity judge is not required to accept the defendant's version of the facts, which would have been the victim had a gun.) "[T]he video showed that when the Defendant exited his vehicle and subsequently fired the first shot, Mr. Hall was at the front of the vehicle not in the process of entering [Appellant's] car." Amended Immunity Order R. 1510. Further, evidence was presented that the victim stopped and took a step back before Appellant fired, and a witness heard Appellant calling the victim's name before he fired. The video also corroborates this testimony showing something happened that caused the victim to turn around that final time toward Appellant's vehicle and shows he was at the front of the car when the shot rang out. *See*

State's Exhibits 13 and 14 (videos) and Defense Exhibit 12 (photo showing how far away the victim was when Appellant opened his door). This was a reasonable ruling backed by evidentiary support.

Regarding Section C, Judge McLeod disagreed with the defense, who argued Appellant was in a place he had the right to be just because he was in his occupied vehicle. Amended Immunity Order R. 1510. The judge found Appellant was not in a place he had the right to be because he was stripped of his right to be at the bar when he was asked to leave. The judge cited *Wright v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, 315 S.C. 521 (Ct. App. 1994) (although entry by a person on the premises of another may initially be lawful, a person becomes a trespasser when they fail to depart after being asked by the owner to leave.) and S.C. Code §16-11-620 (1976): "Any person who, without legal cause or good excuse . . . fails and refuses . . . to leave immediately upon being ordered or requested to do so by the person in possession or his agent or representative is a trespasser" in support. Thus, the judge rightly found Appellant was not entitled to use deadly force before retreating. Amended Immunity Order R. 1511. Appellant has not shown any way Judge McLeod abused his discretion as all of his conclusions were backed up with evidentiary support and Appellant has not shown how Judge McLeod made an error of law. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court properly analyzed the attempted suicide evidence under Rule 403, SCRE, and admitted it as the State proved by clear and convincing evidence a nexus existed between the attempt and the murder. The attempt occurred a mere forty minutes after the murder and Appellant told officers he meant to kill himself multiple times.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by denying his pretrial *in camera* motion to exclude evidence of his suicide attempt shortly after he killed the victim because the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the prejudicial effect. IBOA at p. 34. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit. The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter best left to the sound discretion of Judge McLeod and his ruling should not be disturbed unless this Court finds the judge manifestly abused his discretion and probable prejudice resulted. *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006). Judge McLeod's conclusions would have to lack evidentiary support or be controlled by an error of law, and Appellant has not demonstrated either occurred here. *Id.* at 429-430, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statement by the defendant is admissible as evidence of consciousness of guilt.⁴ *State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976). "Relevant circumstantial evidence regarding a defendant's guilty conduct may be admissible under Rule 403 as a circumstance tending to show the defendant's consciousness of guilt even though it is not conclusive evidence of guilt." *State v. White*, 437 S.C. 490, 497-498, 879 S.E.2d 21, 25 (Ct. App. 2022). "[C]ourts have unanimously held that an accused's attempt to commit suicide is probative of consciousness of guilt and is therefore admissible." Dale Joseph Gilsinger, *Admissibility of Evidence Relating to Accused's Attempt to Commit Suicide*, 73 A.L.R.

⁴ Noting here the Supreme Court's admonition that, "[e]vidence of attempted suicide is not easily analogized to evidence of guilt" as "suicide-attempt evidence is fraught with the potential for extreme prejudice." *Cartwright*, 425 S.C. at 91, 819 S.E.2d at 761. But also noting the Supreme Court, in abrogating *State v. Orozco*, 392 S.C. 212, 708 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2011) on this issue, did *not ban* this line of reasoning but only added safeguards to the line of reasoning in its elemental framework and *in camera* hearing requirement.

5th 615, 624 (1999); *see also* 22A C.J.S. *Criminal Law* § 1011 (2006) (“Evidence is generally admissible that the accused attempted . . . suicide subsequent to the time the crime was committed. Such evidence ordinarily is admissible as indicating a consciousness of guilt.”)

Attempted suicide evidence is analyzed similarly (adding in the three elements and *in camera* hearing requirement) to how evidence of flight is analyzed in this state because the test used to determine it is “equally useful in determining the admissibility of evidence of other types of evasive conduct.” *State v. Martin*, 403 S.C. 19, 28, 742 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2013). The rationale behind the admissibility is “one who is innocent and conscious of that fact would [not] flee.” *Martin*, 403 S.C. at 29-30, 742 S.E.2d at 47 (internal citations omitted). “The courts should not suppose a person who knew he was innocent but under suspicion would disguise himself, hide from the police, or lie to officers investigating the crime of which he is suspected.” *Id.* Courts consider the “chain of inferences leading from evidence of [the defendant’s conduct]” to figure out whether the inferences logically “lead to consciousness of guilt of the crime charged.” *Martin*, 403 S.C. at 29, 742 S.E.2d at 47 (*quoting United States v. Porter*, 821 F.2d 968, 976 (4th Cir. 1987)).

In *State v. Cartwright*, our Supreme Court held evidence of a defendant’s attempted suicide was admissible if there was an unmistakable nexus linking the attempt to a guilty conscience of the crime for which the defendant was on trial. *State v. Cartwright*, 425 S.C. 81, 91, 819 S.E.2d 756, 761 (2018). Finding a nexus is a case-by-case determination to be made outside the presence of the jury. *Id.* at 92, 819 S.E.2d at 761-762. A court should determine admissibility by examining three factors and by conducting a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis:

- (1) The State proved the jury could reasonably find a suicide attempt occurred;

(2) The State proved the defendant was aware of the occurrence of the alleged crimes at the time of his attempt;⁵ and

(3) The State proved an unmistakable nexus existed by clear and convincing evidence between the attempt and a guilty conscience derivative of the crime.⁶

Cartwright, 425 S.C. at 91-92, 819 S.E.2d at 761-762.

If a judge admits the evidence, a limiting instruction, jury instruction, or further comment by the judge is not permitted, but both parties may make full arguments in closing regarding how they believe the jury should consider the evidence. *Id.* at 92-93, 819 S.E.2d at 762.

All relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE; *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 578, 647 S.E.2d 144, 170 (2007). “Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” Rule 401, SCRE. Here, that would be whether Appellant knew he shot the victim with malice or not. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE. “The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.”

State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). “Evidence is unfairly prejudicial

⁵ *Cf. State v. Crawford*, 362 S.C. 627, 635-636, 608 S.E.2d 886, 890-891 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.”)

⁶ *Cf. State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (“Flight evidence is relevant when there is a nexus between the flight and the offense charged.”); *Crawford*, 362 S.C. at 636, 608 S.E.2d at 891 (“It is sufficient that the circumstances justify an inference that the accused’s actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his wrongdoing and were seeking him for that purpose.”)

6 continued: Clear and convincing evidence is “that degree of proof which will produce in the minds of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established.” *In re Dickey*, 395 S.C. 336, 354, 718 S.E.2d 739, 748 (2011).

if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001). An appellate court reviews 403 rulings with an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court’s decision. *State v. Myers*, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004).

The defense and the State’s arguments and nexus the State proved in *Cartwright* are very similar to what Appellant presents to this Court here. Petitioner Cartwright was found hanging by a sheet from his jail cell bunk the same day he received additional criminal sexual conduct warrants, and the State moved photographs and other evidence in at trial to prove the attempt occurred. *Cartwright*, 425 S.C. at 89-90, 819 S.E.2d at 760. Cartwright admitted he attempted suicide after he became aware of the new charges, and the fact he had previously threatened to commit suicide if any of the three minors told anyone of his abuse enhanced the probative value of the attempt. *Id.* at 93, 819 S.E.2d at 762. At trial, Cartwright argued the State had to prove more than showing he knew he was charged with a crime, and evidence of his attempt could not be viewed as evidence of guilt because suicide was and is a complex act. *Id.* at 90, 819 S.E.2d at 760. But our Supreme Court found the evidence was relevant and its probative value outweighed any prejudicial effect. *Id.* at 93, 819 S.E.2d at 762.

Similarly, here, this Court should affirm because Judge McLeod properly found the evidence was relevant, a nexus existed by clear and convincing evidence, and the probative value outweighed any prejudicial effect. The court held a pre-trial *in camera* motion hearing after Appellant moved to exclude the evidence. R. 388-457. Respondent agrees with Appellant’s recitation of the facts and summary of the proffered testimony presented during the hearing – IBOA pp. 34-38 – but underscores certain portions. Appellant left the bar’s parking lot after shooting the victim and drove straight to Log Creek Road, where he then immediately attempted

suicide, then engaged in a shootout with police before he was “taken down.” R. 391-400. During the shootout, he told police he wanted them to “let him bleed to death.” R. 424.425. He had an AR-15 rifle and the silver .38 revolver with him that he had used to shoot the victim. R. 392.

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